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UNI TED STATES COURT OF APPEALS
For the Fifth Crcuit

No. 98-60123

JOSEPH J. MACKTAL, JR.,
Petiti oner,

VERSUS

UNI TED STATES DEPARTMENT OF LABOR,

Respondent .

Petition for Review of an Order of the
United States Departnent of Labor

April 13, 1999
Bef ore GARWOOD, DAVI S, and DeMOSS, Circuit Judges.
W EUGENE DAVIS, Circuit Judge:

Petitioner Joseph J. Macktal requests reviewof a final order
of the Secretary of Labor, pursuant to Section 210(c)(1l) of the
Energy Reorgani zation Act ("ERA"). 42 U . S.C. 8§ 5851(c)(1) (1978).
More particularly, he seeks reversal of a Final Decision and O der
of the Admi nistrative Review Board ("ARB"), dismssing his claim
agai nst I ntervenor-Respondent Brown & Root, Inc. ("Brown & Root")
under the whistle blower protection provision of the ERA. ERA §
210(a), codified at 42 U. S.C. §8 5851(a) (1978) ("Section 210"). For
reasons that follow, we deny Mcktal’s petition for review and

affirmthe ARB s Final Decision and O der.



Brown & Root was the general contractor in the construction of
t he Comanche Peak SteamEl ectric Station ("CPSES"), a nucl ear power
pl ant assenbl ed during the 1980s near Fort Wirth, Texas. Brown &
Root hired Macktal in January 1985 as a journeyman el ectrician at
CPSES. He was pronoted to electrical foreman in May 1985.

As foreman, Macktal supervised a crew of enpl oyees inspecting
electrical conduits to ensure that they had been properly
installed. Inthis role, he devel oped a nunber of safety concerns,
whi ch he reported to his i medi ate supervi sor. He was subsequently
gi ven a counseling report and denoted to journeyman electrician in
Septenber 1985. He was reassigned to the night shift, where he was
i ssued a safety violation for failing to wear proper eye protection
when operating a band saw. A few days | ater, he was reassi gned once
nmore to the day shift. Macktal testified that he was subsequently
asked to perform various activities in violation of safety
procedures. He nade safety-related conplaints to his supervisor
the general foreman, and SAFETEAM an independent safety group
est abl i shed by and operated under the direction of the CPSES "site

owner," Texas Uilities Electric Co. He alleges that he was then
subjected to nunerous forns of harassnent, including citation for
an unwarranted safety violation, loss of his tools, a delayed
paycheck, failure to receive a personal phone call, and refusal of
managenent to grant a request for |eave wthout pay. WMcktal

reported this alleged harassnent to SAFETEAM

On January 2, 1986, Macktal was given a counseling report for
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excessi ve absenteei sm He responded the next day with a handwitten
menor andum i n whi ch he objected to the counseling report and stated
that his "plan of action" was to file a nonconpliance conplaint
with the Nucl ear Regul atory Comm ssion ("NRC') concerning the safe
operation of CPSES. He also stated in the nmenorandum "In a[n]
effort to preserve ny health and avoid any further harassnent, |
wsh to be relieved of ny duties until the TEC, NLRB, NRC can
resol ve these matters." A few hours after Macktal submtted this
menorandum his enploynent with Brown & Root was term nated.
Macktal did not object to this action, and testified that he
under st ood he was being termnated. At the tine of his term nati on,
Mackt al had not yet contacted any governnment agency concerni ng any
safety violations, and did not do so until several nonths |ater.
In February 1986, Macktal filed a clai magainst Brown & Root
wth the Secretary of Labor under Section 210, alleging that he had
been constructively discharged. The Wage and Hour Division of the
Departnent of Labor notified Macktal in March 1986 that his claim
| acked nerit. Macktal requested a hearing before an adm nistrative
| aw judge ("ALJ"). The ALJ encouraged the parties to settle, and
the parties signed a settlenent agreenent in January 1987. Mackt al
| ater sought to have the settlenent set aside. In Novenber 1989,
the Secretary issued an order rejecting one paragraph of the
settlenent as contrary to public policy, but otherw se approving
the settlenment. This court reversed the Secretary’s order in

Macktal v. Secretary of Labor, 923 F.2d 1150 (5th Gr. 1991),

hol di ng that the Secretary was required to accept or to reject the

3



settlenent inits entirety. On remand, the Secretary issued a new
order in October 1993 di sapproving the settl enent and renmandi ng t he
case to the ALJ for a hearing on the nerits.

The ALJ finally held a hearing on the nerits in February 1996,
nmore than a decade after the original claimwas filed. Prior to the
hearing, Brown & Root twi ce noved for sunmary judgnent. At the
hearing, the ALJ ruled that internal whistle blowng was not
protected under Section 210 and the prior rulings of this court,
and that the ALJ therefore would not consider Mucktal’s internal
conplaints as support for his claim In Novenber 1996, the ALJ
i ssued a Recommended Decision and Order granting Brown & Root’s
nmotion for summary judgnment. Macktal filed exceptions to the ALJ' s
Recommended Decision and Order. In January 1998, after further
briefing, the ARB issued a Final Decision and Order dism ssing
Macktal s conplaint, finding that Macktal had not engaged in any
protected activity under the ERA. This tinely petition foll owed.

1.

Review of the ARB's Final Decision and Order is governed by
the standard of review set forth in the Adm nistrative Procedure
Act, 5 U S.C 8§ 706(2). This court nust affirm the Secretary’s
decision wunless it is arbitrary, capricious, an abuse of
di scretion, or otherwi se contrary to law, or unless the decisionis
not supported by substantial evidence. 5 U S.C. 8§ 706(2) (A). Agency
interpretations of circuit |aw, however, are revi ewed de novo. See

Harris v. Railroad Retirenent Board, 3 F.3d 131, 133 (5th Gr.

1993) .



L1l
Macktal argues that the ARB erred in finding that he had not
engaged in any protected activity under Section 210 prior to his
termnation by Browm & Root. He ~contends that the ARB
msinterpreted circuit precedent to foreclose recovery. W
di sagree. Though our reasoning differs sonmewhat from that of the
ARB, we nonetheless conclude that the ARB acted correctly in
di sm ssing Macktal’'s conpl aint.
Prior to the 1992 Anendnents to the ERA, Section 210 provided
as follows:
No enployer . . . may discharge any enployee or otherw se
discrimnate against any enployee wth respect to his
conpensation, terns, conditions, or privileges of enploynent
because the enployee (or any person acting pursuant to a
request of the enpl oyee)--
(1) comenced, caused to be comenced, or is about to
comence or cause to be comenced a proceedi ng under this
chapter or the Atom c Energy Act of 1954, as anended, or
a proceedi ng for the adm ni strati on or enforcenent of any
requi renment inposed under this chapter or the Atomc
Energy Act of 1954, as anended;
42 U.S.C. 8§ 5851(a) (1978) (enphasis added).?
The conpl ai nant has the initial burden of establishing a prinma

facie case of discrimnation under this provision. To neet this

1'n 1992, Congress anended the ERA to include explicit
protection for internal conplaints. The act as anended protects an
enpl oyee who "notified his enpl oyer of an all eged violation of this
chapter or the Atomc Energy Act of 1954," 42 US C 8§
5851(a)(1)(A), and an enployee who "refused to engage in any
practice made unlawful by this chapter or the Atom c Energy Act of
1954, if the enployee has identified the alleged illegality to the
enpl oyer," 42 U.S.C. § 5851(a)(1)(B). These anmendnents do not apply
here, because the present claimwas filed well before the Cctober
24, 1992 date of enactnent.



burden, the conpl ai nant must show. (1) that he engaged i n protected
activity; (2) that the enployer was aware of the protected
activity; (3) that the enployer took sone adverse action agai nst
him and (4) that the evidence is sufficient to permt an inference

that the protected activity was the likely reason for the adverse

action. See County v. Dole, 886 F.2d 147, 148 (8th G r. 1989).
The principal question before us is whether the ARB erred in
determning that Micktal failed to show that he was engaged in
protected activity at the tinme of the all eged adverse actions.? The
ARB's determ nation that Macktal was not engaged in protected
activity under Section 210 is based on this court’s opinion in

Brown & Root, Inc. v. Donovan, 747 F.2d 1029 (5th G r. 1984). The

simlarities between Brown & Root and the present case are

substantial. The conpl ai nant in Brown & Root, Charl es Atchi son, was

afield quality control inspector for Brown & Root at CPSES. In the
course of his duties, Atchison fil ed several nonconfornmance reports
alleging that certain work at CPSES did not conformto construction
specifications. He was | ater discharged and fil ed a conpl ai nt under
Section 210. Onreviewfroma final order of the Secretary of Labor
finding that Brown & Root’ s actions had viol ated Section 210, this

court held that Atchison’s internal quality control reports did not

2Brown & Root argues that, irrespective of the nerits,
Macktal s claim has been extinguished by his refusal to return
settlenment funds he received from Brown & Root. That issue was
addressed in an earlier order by the Secretary of Labor, dated July
11, 1995, which Brown & Root did not appeal. Regardless, it was not
rai sed in the Final Decision and Order at issue here, and therefore
falls outside of this court’s jurisdiction under 42 US. C 8§
5851(c) (1).



rise to the level of protected activity under Section 210. |d. at
1031. The court reasoned that Section 210 was "desi gned to protect
"whistle blowers’ who provide information to governnent entities,
not to the enployer corporation.” 1d. at 1034. The court further
stated that "enpl oyee conduct whi ch does not involve the enpl oyee’s
contact or involvenent with a conpetent organ of governnent i s not
protected under section 5851." [d. at 1036.

Mackt al seeks to distinguish his case fromBrown & Root on two

grounds. First, he notes that Atchison’s nonconfornmance reports
were all routine internal reports fil ed pursuant to Atchison’s job-
related responsibilities, whereas Macktal "went beyond his chain-
of -command and contacted SAFETEAM a sem -independent and NRC
endorsed program specifically designed to review whistlebl ower
all egations." Mcktal points out that SAFETEAM s own i nternal
operating procedures both mandated that SAFETEAM report certain
violations onits owm to the NRC and recogni zed that contacts with
SAFETEAM were a "forewarning of a later allegation to the NRC or
anot her regul atory body." Second, Macktal notes that Atchi son never
gave any indication that he was about to contact the NRC or any
other official governnent agency, whereas Macktal delivered a
handwitten menorandumto his superiors at Brown & Root just hours
before his term nation advising nanagenent that he was going to
contact the NRC. Micktal argues that these extra actions on his

part, absent in Brown & Root, bring his conduct within the sphere

of protected activity under the "about to" | anguage of Section 210.

He notes that the Brown & Root panel expressly omtted the phrase
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"about to" when it quoted the "rel evant | anguage"” of Section 210.
See id. at 1031. Thus, he argues, the panel’s reasoning does not
extend to that portion of the statute. We find these distinctions
unavai | i ng.
A
Wth respect to Mcktal’s conplaints to SAFETEAM we are

governed by this court’s opinion in Ebasco Constructors, Inc. V.

Martin, No. 92-4576 (5th Cir. Feb. 19, 1993).2 The conplainant in
Ebasco, Ronald J. CGoldstein, was enpl oyed by Ebasco Constructors,
Inc. as a craft supervisor in the construction of a nuclear power
pl ant for Houston Lighting and Power Conpany. In 1985, ol dstein
regi stered several safety and quality concerns with his supervisor,
with Ebasco’'s quality assurance group, and with the SAFETEAM
program at his plant. He subsequently received several |ow
performance reviews, was reassigned several tines to increasingly
clerical jobs, and was ultimately laid off. Goldstein filed a claim
with the Departnent of Labor alleging a violation of Section 210.
On petition for reviewfroma final order of the Secretary finding
t hat Ebasco had violated Section 210, this court vacated, holding

that Goldstein’s claimwas "clearly controlled" by Brown & Root.

Id., slipop. at 3. The court found that "[t]he conplaints filed by
Gol dstein were purely internal." Id., slip op. at 4. Mre
inportantly, the court expressly determned that GColdstein’s

conplaints to SAFETEAM "di d not constitute either a conplaint to an

3Unpubl i shed opinions issued before January 1, 1996 are
bi ndi ng precedent in this circuit. See 5TH QRcU T RULE 47.5. 3.
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agency or conmmencenent of a proceedi ng under 8 5851." 1d. Thus, the
court concluded, none of Goldstein’s conplaints were protected
under Section 210. |d.

Ebasco is clearly controlling in the present case. This court
adheres strictly to the nmaxi mthat one panel of the court cannot
overturn another, even if it disagrees with the prior panel’s

hol di ng. See Texas Refrigerator Supply v. FDIC, 953 F. 2d 975, 983

(5th Gr. 1992). A "purpose of institutional orderliness" is served

by "our insistence that, in the absence of intervening Suprene
Court precedent, one panel cannot overturn another panel,
regardl ess of howwong the earlier panel decision my seemto be."

Mont esano v. Seafirst Conmmercial Corp., 818 F.2d 423, 425-26 (5th

Cir. 1987). Nothing in the record or in the briefs distinguishes
Macktal s conplaints to SAFETEAM here from Gol dstein’s conplaints
to SAFETEAM in Ebasco, nor does Macktal suggest that any
i ntervening Suprenme Court precedent exists to justify overturning

Brown & Root or Ebasco. We therefore find that Macktal’s conplaints

to SAFETEAM are not protected activity under Section 210.%
B
Macktal s nenorandum expressing his intention to file a
conplaint wwth the NRC presents a nore difficult issue. As Mackt al

observes, the Brown & Root court did not consider the "about to"

“Macktal urges us in the alternative to take this matter en
banc on the court’s own notion and to overrule Brown & Root. W
decline to do so. Macktal may, of course, file a formal suggestion
for rehearing en banc at the appropriate tine. See FED. R Aprp. P

35.




provi sion of Section 210, because that provision was irrelevant

under the facts of Brown & Root. Contrary to the ARB' s findings,

this strongly suggests that the issue of whether Macktal’s
menor andumwas protected activity under Section 210 is not directly

governed by Brown & Root or Ebasco. The Secretary notes that this

very sanme argunent was unsuccessfully argued before this court in
Ebasco, and that although the court did not specifically address

the argunent, it nonetheless concluded that Brown & Root was

controlling. A prior panel’s silence on a particular issue,
however, is not binding on this panel. It therefore falls to us to
determne whether a witten expression of intent to file a
conplaint wwth the NRC constitutes protected activity under Section
210. W conclude that it does.

We need go no further than the plain | anguage of Section 210
to conclude that a witten expression of intent to file a conpl aint
wth the NRC is protected activity under the ERA. Section 210
protects from retaliatory action any enployee who "conmmenced,"
"caused to be commenced,"” or "is about to commence or cause to be
comenced"” a proceedi ng under the ERA or the Atom c Energy Act. 42

US C 8 5851(a)(1l) (1978). Wien the Brown & Root panel concl uded

that "enployee conduct which does not involve the enployee’'s
contact or involvenent with a conpetent organ of governnent i s not
protected" under Section 210, 747 F.2d at 1036, it was plainly
referring only to the "comenced" and "caused to be commenced"
provisions. Wre we to hold that present contact or involvenent

W th a conpetent organ of governnent is a requirenent of the "about
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to comence" provision as well, there would be nothing to
di stinguish that provision fromthe other two; it would becone a
nullity. If the "about to comrence" provision is to have any
distinct nmeaning at all, it nust enconpass sone enpl oyee actions
prior to actual contact with a conpetent organ of governnent. A
witten expression of intent to file a conplaint wwith the NRCfalls
squarely within that sphere of action. W therefore concl ude that
Mackt al ' s menorandum expressing his intention to file a conpl ai nt
with the NRC was protected activity under the "about to" provision
of Section 210.

As not ed above, however, evidence that the conpl ai nant engaged

in protected activity is only the first of four prinma facie

requi renents under Section 210. Macktal nust also show that the
evidence is sufficient to permt an inference that the protected
activity was the likely reason for the adverse action. It is at
this point that his claimcollapses. In addition to expressing his
intention to file a conplaint with the NRC, Macktal also stated in
hi s menorandum "In a[n] effort to preserve ny health and avoi d any
further harassnent, | wish to be relieved of nmy duties until the
TEC, NLRB, NRC can resolve these matters." The ARB observed that
"[1]t would have required considerable nental gymastics on the
part of Brown & Root managers to recogni ze that, when Macktal said
he wanted to be relieved of his duties, he really neant he wanted
to be reassigned to work that did not require himto violate NRC

procedures." Macktal v. Brown & Root, Inc., 86-ERA-23, slip op. at

5 (Sec’y Dec. Jan. 6, 1998). Thus, the ARB concluded, "[w] e agree
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wth the ALJ that a reasonable person could only interpret
Macktal s request as a resignation and could not be held
responsible for failure to intuit what Macktal now clains was on
his mnd." Id., slip op. at 5-6. The ARB' s conclusion is clearly
supported by substantial evidence, and we do not find it to be
arbitrary, capricious, an abuse of discretion, or otherw se
contrary to |l aw. Thus, the Final Decision and Order of the ARB nust
be affirned.
| V.
For the foregoing reasons, Macktal’'s petition for reviewis

DENI ED and the Final Decision and Order of the ARB i s AFFI RVED. ®

SBrown & Root argues that it is entitled to an award of
sanctions under 28 U.S.C. 88 1912 and 1927 and Fep. R App. P. 38.
W do not find that Mcktal’'s appeal was frivolous or neritless.
Therefore, Brown & Root’s request for sanctions is denied.
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